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as to deferrals to findings of state
agencies.

PART 1978—RULES FOR IMPLE-
MENTING SECTION 405 OF THE
SURFACE TRANSPORTATION AS-
SISTANCE ACT OF 1982 (STAA)

Subpart A—Interpretive Rules [Reserved]

Subpart B—Rules of Procedure

COMPLAINTS, INVESTIGATIONS, FINDINGS AND
PRELIMINARY ORDERS

Sec.
1978.100 Purpose and scope.
1978.101 Definitions.
1978.102 Filing of discrimination complaint.
1978.103 Investigation.
1978.104 Issuance of findings and prelimi-

nary orders.
1978.105 Objections to the findings and the

preliminary order.

LITIGATION

1978.106 Scope of rules; applicability of
other rules; notice of hearing.

1978.107 Parties.
1978.108 Captions, titles of cases.
1978.109 Decision and orders.
1978.110 Judicial review.
1978.111 Withdrawal of section 405 com-

plaints, objections, and findings; settle-
ment.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

1978.112 Arbitration or other proceedings.
1978.113 Judicial enforcement.
1978.114 Statutory time periods.
1978.115 Special circumstances; waiver of

rules.

AUTHORITY: 29 U.S.C. 657(g)(2); 29 U.S.C.
660(c)(2); 49 U.S.C. 31101 and 31105; Secretary
of Labor’s Order No. 1–90, 55 FR 9033.

SOURCE: 53 FR 47681, Nov. 25, 1988, unless
otherwise noted.

Subpart A—Interpretive Rules
[Reserved]

Subpart B—Rules of Procedure

COMPLAINTS, INVESTIGATIONS, FINDINGS
AND PRELIMINARY ORDERS

§ 1978.100 Purpose and scope.
(a) This subpart implements the pro-

cedural aspects of section 405 of the
Surface Transportation Assistance Act
of 1982, 49 U.S.C. 2305, which provides
for employee protection from discrimi-

nation because the employee has en-
gaged in protected activity pertaining
to commercial motor vehicle safety
and health matters.

(b) Procedures are established by this
subpart pursuant to the statutory pro-
vision set forth above for the expedi-
tious handling of complaints of dis-
crimination made by employees, or
persons acting on their behalf. These
rules, together with those rules set
forth at 29 CFR part 18, set forth the
procedures for submission of com-
plaints under section 405, investiga-
tions, issuance of findings and prelimi-
nary orders, objections thereto, litiga-
tion before administrative law judges,
post-hearing administrative review,
withdrawals and settlements, judicial
review and enforcement, and deferral
to other forums.

§ 1978.101 Definitions.
(a) Act means the Surface Transpor-

tation Assistance Act of 1982 (STAA)
(49 U.S.C. 2301 et seq.).

(b) Secretary means Secretary of
Labor or persons to whom authority
under the Act has been delegated.

(c) Assistant Secretary means the As-
sistant Secretary of Labor for Occupa-
tional Safety and Health or the person
or persons to whom he or she delegates
authority under the Act.

(d) Employee means (1) a driver of a
commercial motor vehicle (including
an independent contractor while in the
course of personally operating a com-
mercial motor vehicle); (2) a mechanic;
(3) a freight handler; or (4) any individ-
ual other than an employer; who is em-
ployed by a commercial motor carrier
and who in the course of his employ-
ment directly affects commercial
motor vehicle safety, but such term
does not include an employee of the
United States, any State, or a political
subdivision of a State who is acting
within the course of such employment.

(e) Commercial motor carrier means a
person who meets the definition of
motor carrier found at 49 U.S.C. 10102(13)
(Supp. 1987) and motor private carrier
found at 49 U.S.C. 10102(16) (Supp. 1987).

(f) OSHA means the Occupational
Safety and Health Administration.

(g) Complainant means the employee
who filed a section 405 complaint or on
whose behalf a complaint was filed.
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(h) Named person means the person al-
leged to have violated section 405.

(i) Person means one or more individ-
uals, partnerships, associations, cor-
porations, business trusts, legal rep-
resentatives or any group of persons.

§ 1978.102 Filing of discrimination 
complaint.

(a) Who may file. An employee may
file, or have filed by any person on the
employee’s behalf, a complaint alleging
a violation of section 405.

(b) Nature of filing. No particular
form of complaint is required.

(c) Place of filing. The complaint
should be filed with the OSHA Area Di-
rector responsible for enforcement ac-
tivities in the geographical area where
the employee resides or was employed,
but filing with any OSHA officer or em-
ployee is sufficient. Addresses and tele-
phone numbers for these officials are
set forth in local directories.

(d) Time for filing. (1) Section 405(c)(1)
provides that an employee who believes
that he has been discriminated against
in violation of section 405 (a) or (b)
‘‘* * * may, within one hundred and
eighty days after such alleged violation
occurs,’’ file or have filed by any per-
son on the employee’s behalf a com-
plaint with the Secretary.

(2) A major purpose of the 180-day pe-
riod in this provision is to allow the
Secretary to decline to entertain com-
plaints which have become stale. Ac-
cordingly, complaints not filed within
180 days of an alleged violation will or-
dinarily be considered to be untimely.

(3) However, there are circumstances
which will justify tolling of the 180-day
period on the basis of recognized equi-
table principles or because of extenuat-
ing circumstances, e.g., where the em-
ployer has concealed or misled the em-
ployee regarding the grounds for dis-
charge or other adverse action; or
where the discrimination is in the na-
ture of a continuing violation. The
pendency of grievance-arbitration pro-
ceedings or filing with another agency
are examples of circumstances which
do not justify a tolling of the 180-day
period. The Assistant Secretary will
not ordinarily investigate complaints
which are determined to be untimely.

(e) Relationship to section 11(c) com-
plaints. A complaint filed by an em-

ployee within thirty days of the alleged
violation or otherwise timely filed pur-
suant to section 11(c) of the OSHA Act,
which alleges discrimination relating
to safety or health, shall be deemed to
be a complaint filed under both section
405 and section 11(c). Normal proce-
dures for investigations under both sec-
tions will be followed, except as other-
wise provided.

(f) Upon receipt of a valid complaint,
OSHA shall notify the named person of
the filing of the complaint by provid-
ing a copy of the complaint, sanitized
to protect witness confidentiality if
necessary, and shall also notify the
named person of his or her rights under
29 CFR 1978.103 (b) and (c).

§ 1978.103 Investigation.
(a) OSHA shall investigate and gath-

er data concerning the case as it deems
appropriate.

(b) Within twenty days of his or her
receipt of the complaint the named
person may submit to OSHA a written
statement and any affidavits or docu-
ments explaining or defending his or
her position. Within the same twenty
days the named person may request a
meeting with OSHA to present his or
her position. The meeting will be held
before the issuance of any findings or
preliminary order. At the meeting the
named person may be accompanied by
counsel and by any persons with infor-
mation relating to the complaint, who
may make statements concerning the
case. At such meeting OSHA may
present additional allegations of viola-
tions which may have been discovered
in the course of its investigation.

(c) If, on the basis of information
gathered under paragraphs (a) and (b)
of this section, OSHA has reasonable
cause to believe that the named person
has violated the Act and that tem-
porary reinstatement is warranted,
prior to the issuance of findings and
preliminary order as provided for in
§ 1978.104, OSHA shall again contact the
named person to give him or her notice
of the substance of the relevant evi-
dence supporting the complainant’s al-
legations as developed during the
course of the investigation. The named
person shall be given the opportunity
to submit a written response, to meet
with the investigators and to present
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statements from rebuttal witnesses.
The named person shall present this re-
buttal evidence within five days of
OSHA’s notification pursuant to this
subsection, or as soon thereafter as
OSHA and the named person can agree,
if the interests of justice so require.

§ 1978.104 Issuance of findings and
preliminary orders.

(a) After considering all the relevant
information collected during the inves-
tigation, the Assistant Secretary will
issue, within sixty days of the filing of
the complaint, written findings as to
whether there is reasonable cause to
believe that the named person or oth-
ers have discriminated against the
complainant in violation of section 405
(a) or (b). If the Assistant Secretary
concludes that there is reasonable
cause to believe that a violation has
occurred, he shall accompany his find-
ings with a preliminary order providing
the relief prescribed in section
405(c)(2)(B). Such order will include,
where appropriate, a requirement that
the named person abate the violation;
reinstatement of the complainant to
his or her former position, together
with the compensation (including back
pay), terms, conditions and privileges
of the complainant’s employment; and
payment of compensatory damages. At
the complainant’s request the order
may also assess against the named
party the complainant’s costs and ex-
penses (including attorney’s fees) rea-
sonably incurred in filing the com-
plaint.

(b) The findings and the preliminary
order shall be sent by certified mail,
return receipt requested, to all parties
of record. The letter accompanying the
findings and order shall inform the par-
ties of the right to object to the find-
ings and/or the order and shall give the
address of the Chief Administrative
Law Judge. At the same time, the As-
sistant Secretary shall file with the
Chief Administrative Law Judge, U.S.
Department of Labor, the original com-
plaint and a copy of the findings and/or
order.

(c) Upon the issuance of findings that
there is reasonable cause to believe
that a violation has occurred, any
pending section 11(c) complaint will be
suspended until the section 405 pro-

ceeding is completed. When the section
405 proceeding is completed the Assist-
ant Secretary will determine what ac-
tion, if any, is appropriate on the sec-
tion 11(c) complaint. If the Assistant
Secretary’s findings indicate that a
violation has occurred, the Assistant
Secretary shall make a separate deter-
mination as to whether section 11(c)
has been violated.

§ 1978.105 Objections to the findings
and the preliminary order.

(a) Basic procedures. Within thirty
days of receipt of the findings or pre-
liminary order the named person or the
complainant, or both, may file objec-
tions to the findings or preliminary
order providing relief or both and re-
quest a hearing on the record. The ob-
jection and request shall be in writing
and shall state whether the objection is
to the findings or the preliminary
order or both. Such objection shall also
be considered a request for a hearing.
The date of the postmark shall be con-
sidered to be the date of filing. Objec-
tions shall be filed with the Chief Ad-
ministrative Law Judge, U.S. Depart-
ment of Labor, Washington, DC and
copies of the objections shall be mailed
at the same time to the other parties
of record, including the Assistant Sec-
retary’s designee who issued the find-
ings and order.

(b) Effective date of findings and pre-
liminary order and failure to object. (1)
The findings and the preliminary order
shall be effective thirty days after the
named person’s receipt thereof, or on
the compliance date set forth in the
preliminary order, whichever is later,
unless an objection to the findings or
preliminary order has been timely
filed. However, the portion of any pre-
liminary order requiring reinstatement
shall be effective immediately upon the
named person’s receipt of the findings
and preliminary order, regardless of
any objections thereto.

(2) If no timely objection is filed with
respect to either the findings or the
preliminary order, such findings or pre-
liminary order, as the case may be,
shall become final and not subject to
judicial review.
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LITIGATION

§ 1978.106 Scope of rules; applicability
of other rules; notice of hearing.

(a) Except as otherwise noted, hear-
ings shall be conducted in accordance
with the Rules of Practice and Proce-
dure for Administrative Hearings Be-
fore the Office of Administrative Law
Judges promulgated at 29 CFR part 18,
48 FR 32538 (July 15, 1983), amended at
49 FR 2739 January 20, 1984. Hearings
shall be conducted as hearings de novo.

(b) Upon receipt of an objection, the
Chief Administrative Law Judge shall
immediately assign the case to a judge
who shall, within seven days following
the receipt of the objection, notify the
parties, by certified mail, of the day,
time, and place of hearing. The hearing
shall commence within 30 days of the
filing of the objection, except upon a
showing of good cause or unless other-
wise agreed to by the parties.

(c) If both complainant and the
named person object to the findings
and/or order, the objections shall be
consolidated and a single hearing shall
be conducted. If the objections are not
received simultaneously, the hearing
shall commence within 30 days of the
receipt of the later objection.

(d) At the time the hearing order
issues, the judge may order the pros-
ecuting party to file a prehearing
statement of position, which shall
briefly set forth the issues involved in
the proceeding and the remedy re-
quested. Such prehearing statement
shall be filed within three days of the
receipt of the hearing order and shall
be served on all parties by certified
mail. Thereafter, within three days of
receipt of the prosecuting party’s pre-
hearing statement, the other parties to
the proceeding shall file prehearing
statements of position.

§ 1978.107 Parties.
(a) In any case in which only the

named person objects to the findings or
the preliminary order the Assistant
Secretary ordinarily shall be the pros-
ecuting party. In such a case the com-
plainant shall also be a party and may
engage in discovery, present evidence
or otherwise act as a party. The named
person shall be the party-respondent.
If, at any time after the named person

files objections, the Assistant Sec-
retary and complainant agree, the
complainant may present the case to
the judge. Under such circumstances
the case will be handled as if it had
arisen under paragraph (b) of this sec-
tion.

(b) In any case in which only the
complainant objects to findings that
the complaint lacks merit, to the pre-
liminary order, or to both, the com-
plainant shall be the prosecuting
party. The Assistant Secretary may as
of right intervene as a party at any
time in proceedings under this para-
graph. The named person shall be the
party-respondent.

(c) In any case in which both the
complainant and the named person ob-
ject to the preliminary order the As-
sistant Secretary shall be the prosecut-
ing party. The complainant and the
named person shall be the party-re-
spondents. In any such case, if the
named person also objected to the find-
ings the Assistant Secretary, com-
plainant, and named party shall each
have the party status, rights, and re-
sponsibilities set forth in paragraph (a)
of this section with respect to the find-
ings.

§ 1978.108 Captions, titles of cases.

(a) Cases described in § 1978.107(a)
shall be titled:

Assistant Secretary of Labor for Occupa-
tional Safety and Health, Prosecuting Party
and (Name of Complainant), Complainant v.
(Name of named person), Respondent.

(b) Cases described in § 1978.107(b)
shall be titled:

(Name of complainant), Complainant v.
(Name of named person), Respondent.

(c) Cases described in § 1978.107(c)
shall be titled:

Assistant Secretary of Labor for Occupa-
tional Safety and Health, Prosecuting Party
v. (Name of named person), Respondent.

(Name of complainant), Complainant v.
(Name of named person), Respondent.

(d) The titles listed in paragraphs (a),
(b), and (c) of this section shall appear
at the left upper portion of the initial
page of any pleading or document
(other than exhibits) filed.
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§ 1978.109 Decision and orders.

(a) Administrative Law Judge decisions.
The administrative law judge shall
issue a decision within 30 days after
the close of the record. The close of the
record shall occur no later than 30 days
after the filing of the objection, except
upon a showing of good cause or unless
otherwise agreed to by the parties. For
the purposes of the statute the
issuance of the judge’s decision shall be
deemed the conclusion of the hearing.
The decision shall contain appropriate
findings, conclusions, and an order per-
taining to the remedy which, among
other things, may provide for rein-
statement of a discharged employee
and also may include an award of the
complainant’s costs and expenses (in-
cluding attorney’s fees) reasonably in-
curred in bringing and litigating the
case, if the complainant’s position has
prevailed. The decision shall be for-
warded immediately, together with the
record, to the Secretary for review by
the Secretary or his or her designee.
The decision shall be served upon all
parties to the proceeding.

(b) The administrative law judge’s
decision and order concerning whether
the reinstatement of a discharged em-
ployee is appropriate shall be effective
immediately upon receipt of the deci-
sion by the named person. All other
portions of the judge’s order are stayed
pending review by the Secretary.

(c) Final order. (1) Within 120 days
after issuance of the administrative
law judge’s decision and order, the Ad-
ministrative Review Board, United
States Department of Labor, shall
issue a final decision and order based
on the record and the decision and
order of the administrative law judge.

(2) The parties may file with the Ad-
ministrative Review Board, United
States Department of Labor, briefs in
support of or in opposition to the ad-
ministrative law judge’s decision and
order within thirty days of the
issuance of that decision unless the Ad-
ministrative Review Board, United
States Department of Labor, upon no-
tice to the parties, establishes a dif-
ferent briefing schedule.

(3) The findings of the administrative
law judge with respect to questions of
fact, if supported by substantial evi-

dence on the record considered as a
whole, shall be considered conclusive.

(4) Where the Administrative Review
Board, United States Department of
Labor, determines that the named
party has not violated the law, the
final order shall deny the complaint.

(5) The final decision and order of the
Administrative Review Board, United
States Department of Labor, shall be
served upon all parties to the proceed-
ing.

[53 FR 47681, Nov. 25, 1988, as amended at 61
FR 19986, May 3, 1996]

§ 1978.110 Judicial review.
(a) Within 60 days after the issuance

of a final order under § 1978.109, any
person adversely affected or aggrieved
by such order may file a petition for re-
view of the order in the United States
Court of Appeals for the circuit in
which the violation allegedly occurred
or the circuit in which the person re-
sided on the date of the violation (49
U.S.C. 2305(d)(1)).

(b) A final order of the Administra-
tive Review Board, United States De-
partment of Labor, shall not be subject
to judicial review in any criminal or
other civil proceedings (49 U.S.C.
2305(d)(2)).

(c) The record of a case, including the
record of proceedings before the admin-
istrative law judge, shall be transmit-
ted by the Administrative Review
Board, United States Department of
Labor, to the appropriate court pursu-
ant to the rules of such court.

[53 FR 47681, Nov. 25, 1988, as amended at 61
FR 19986, May 3, 1996]

§ 1978.111 Withdrawal of section 405
complaints, objections, and find-
ings; settlement.

(a) At any time prior to the filing of
objections to the findings or prelimi-
nary order, an employee may withdraw
his or her section 405 complaint by fil-
ing a written withdrawal with the As-
sistant Secretary. The Assistant Sec-
retary shall thereafter determine
whether the withdrawal shall be ap-
proved. The Assistant Secretary shall
notify the named person of the ap-
proval of any withdrawal.

(b) The Assistant Secretary may
withdraw his findings or a preliminary
order at any time before the expiration
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of the 30-day objection period, provided
that no objection has yet been filed,
and substitute new findings or prelimi-
nary order. The date of the receipt of
the substituted findings or order shall
begin a new 30-day objection period.

(c) At any time before the findings or
order become final, a party may with-
draw his objections to the findings or
order by filing a written withdrawal
with the administrative law judge or, if
the case is on review, with the Admin-
istrative Review Board, United States
Department of Labor. The judge or the
Administrative Review Board, United
States Department of Labor, as the
case may be, shall affirm any portion
of the findings or preliminary order
with respect to which the objection
was withdrawn.

(d)(1) Investigative settlements. At any-
time after the filing of a section 405
complaint by an employee and before
the finding and/or order are objected
to, or become a final order by oper-
ation of law, the case may be settled if
the Assistant Secretary, the complain-
ant and the named person agree to a
settlement.

(2) Adjudicatory settlement. At any
time after the filing of objections to
the Assistant Secretary’s findings and/
or order, the case may be settled if the
participating parties agree to a settle-
ment and such settlement is approved
by the Administrative Review Board,
United States Department of Labor, or
the ALJ. A copy of the settlement
shall be filed with the ALJ or the Ad-
ministrative Review Board, United
States Department of Labor as the case
may be.

(3) If, under paragraph (d)(1) or (2) of
this section the named person makes
an offer to settle the case which the
Assistant Secretary, when acting as
the prosecuting party, deems to be a
fair and equitable settlement of all
matters at issue and the complainant
refuses to accept the offer, the Assist-
ant Secretary may decline to assume
the role of prosecuting party as set
forth in § 1978.107(a). In such cir-
cumstances, the Assistant Secretary
shall immediately notify the complain-
ant that his review of the settlement
offer may cause the Assistant Sec-
retary to decline the role of prosecut-
ing party. After the Assistant Sec-

retary has reviewed the offer and when
he or she has decided to decline the
role of prosecuting party, the Assistant
Secretary shall immediately notify all
parties of his or her decision in writing
and, if the case is before the adminis-
trative law judge, or the Administra-
tive Review Board, United States De-
partment of Labor on review, a copy of
the notice shall be sent to the appro-
priate official. Upon receipt of the As-
sistant Secretary’s notice, the parties
shall assume the roles set forth in
§ 1978.107(b).

[53 FR 47681, Nov. 25, 1988, as amended at 61
FR 19986, May 3, 1996]

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

§ 1978.112 Arbitration or other pro-
ceedings.

(a) General. (1) An employee who files
a complaint under section 405 of the
Act may also pursue remedies under
grievance arbitration proceedings in
collective bargaining agreements. In
addition, the complainant may concur-
rently resort to other agencies for re-
lief, such as the National Labor Rela-
tions Board. The Secretary’s jurisdic-
tion to entertain section 405 com-
plaints, to investigate, and to deter-
mine whether discrimination has oc-
curred, is independent of the jurisdic-
tion of other agencies or bodies. The
Secretary may proceed with the inves-
tigation and the issuance of findings
and orders regardless of the pendency
of other proceedings.

(2) However, the Secretary also rec-
ognizes the national policy favoring
voluntary resolution of disputes under
procedures in collective bargaining
agreements. By the same token, due
deference should be paid to the juris-
diction of other forums established to
resolve disputes which may also be re-
lated to section 405 complaints.

(3) Where complainant is in fact pur-
suing remedies other than those pro-
vided by section 405, the Secretary
may, in his or her discretion, postpone
a determination of the section 405 com-
plaint and defer to the results of such
proceedings.
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(b) Postponement of determination.
When a complaint is under investiga-
tion pursuant to § 1978.103, postpone-
ment of determination would be justi-
fied where the rights asserted in other
proceedings are substantially the same
as rights under section 405 and those
proceedings are not likely to violate
rights guaranteed by section 405. The
factual issues in such proceedings must
be substantially the same as those
raised by a section 405 complaint, and
the forum hearing the matter must
have the power to determine the ulti-
mate issue of discrimination.

(c) Deferral to outcome of other pro-
ceedings. A determination to defer to
the outcome of other proceedings initi-
ated by a complainant must nec-
essarily be made on a case-by-case
basis, after careful scrutiny of all
available information. Before the As-
sistant Secretary or the Secretary de-
fers to the results of other proceedings,
it must be clear that those proceedings
dealt adequately with all factual
issues, that the proceedings were fair,
regular, and free of procedural infir-
mities, and that the outcome of the
proceedings was not repugnant to the
purpose and policy of the Act. In this
regard, if such other actions initiated
by a complainant are dismissed with-
out adjudicatory hearing thereof, such
dismissal will not ordinarily be re-
garded as determinative of the section
405 complaint.

§ 1978.113 Judicial enforcement.

Whenever any person has failed to
comply with a preliminary order of re-
instatement or a final order or the
terms of a settlement agreement, the
Secretary may file a civil action seek-
ing enforcement of the order in the
United States district court for the dis-
trict in which the violation was found
to occur.

§ 1978.114 Statutory time periods.

The time requirements imposed on
the Secretary by these regulations are
directory in nature. While every effort
will be made to meet these require-
ments, there may be instances when it
is not possible to meet these require-
ments. Failure to meet these require-
ments does not invalidate any action

by the Assistant Secretary or Sec-
retary under section 405.

§ 1978.115 Special circumstances;
waiver of rules.

In special circumstances not con-
templated by the provisions of these
rules, or for good cause shown, the
judge or the Secretary on review may,
upon application, after three days no-
tice to all parties and intervenors,
waive any rule or issue such orders as
justice or the administration of section
405 requires.

PART 1990—IDENTIFICATION,
CLASSIFICATION, AND REGULA-
TION OF POTENTIAL OCCUPA-
TIONAL CARCINOGENS

GENERAL

Sec.
1990.101 Scope.
1990.102 Purpose.
1990.103 Definitions.
1990.104 Scientific review panel.
1990.105 Advisory committees.
1990.106 Amendments to this policy.

THE OSHA CANCER POLICY

1990.111 General statement of regulatory
policy.

1990.112 Classification of potential carcino-
gens.

PRIORITY SETTING

1990.121 Candidate list of potential occupa-
tional carcinogens.

1990.122 Response to petitions.
1990.131 Priority lists for regulating poten-

tial occupational carcinogens.
1990.132 Factors to be considered.
1990.133 Publication.

REGULATION OF POTENTIAL OCCUPATIONAL
CARCINOGENS

1990.141 Advance notice of proposed rule-
making.

1990.142 Initiation of a rulemaking.
1990.143 General provisions for the use of

human and animal data.
1990.144 Criteria for consideration of argu-

ments on certain issues.
1990.145 Consideration of substantial new

issues or substantial new evidence.
1990.146 Issues to be considered in the rule-

making.
1990.147 Final action.

MODEL STANDARDS

1990.151 Model standard pursuant to section
6(b) of the Act.
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